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PART I.
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORRESTER RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data, unaudited)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses of $931 and $628 as
of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively
Deferred commissions
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of deferred financing fees
Non-current operating lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Stockholders' Equity (Note 12):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value
Authorized - 500 shares; issued and outstanding - none
Common stock, $0.01 par value
Authorized - 125,000 shares
Issued - 23,401 and 23,275 shares as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively
Outstanding - 18,770 and 18,644 shares as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Treasury stock - 4,631 shares as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
68,377 $ 67,904
54,108 84,605
15,029 20,326
21,417 19,201
158,931 192,036
29,019 29,937
63,837 69,100
243,201 243,895
87,994 97,363
5,577 6,829
588,559 $ 639,160
1,201 $ 505
44,272 79,857
10,938 9,375
170,777 179,194
227,188 268,931
101,235 121,170
63,490 67,062
23,237 23,909
415,150 481,072
234 233
222,778 216,454
129,314 118,147
(171,889) (171,889)
(7,028) (4,857)
173,409 158,088
588,559 $ 639,160

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



FORRESTER RESEARCH, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data, unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenues:

Research $ 73,621 $ 76,279 146,417  $ 144,888

Consulting 34,888 34,017 68,347 65,803

Events 5,032 17,887 5,122 18,141
Total revenues 113,541 128,183 219,886 228,832
Operating expenses:

Cost of services and fulfillment 43,964 56,571 87,317 101,681

Selling and marketing 39,117 44,017 79,390 86,050

General and administrative 11,456 13,221 23,461 26,411

Depreciation 2,448 2,166 4,854 4,189

Amortization of intangible assets 4,713 5,099 9,425 11,309

Acquisition and integration costs 612 2,487 3,487 5,454

Total operating expenses 102,310 123,561 207,934 235,094
Income (loss) from operations 11,231 4,622 11,952 (6,262)
Interest expense (1,307) (2,085) (2,845) (4,437)
Other income (expense), net (201) (86) 109 (356)
Gain (loss) on investments, net 2,352 8) 2,365 (44)
Income (loss) before income taxes 12,075 2,443 11,581 (11,099)
Income tax expense 238 888 257 662
Net income (loss) $ 11,837 $ 1,555 11,324  § (11,761)
Basic income (loss) per common share $ 0.63 $ 0.08 060 $ (0.64)
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 063 $ 0.08 060 $ (0.64)
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 18,759 18,435 18,732 18,399
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 18,831 18,780 18,828 18,399

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




FORRESTER RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands, unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Net income (loss) $ 11,837 $ 1,555 $ 11,324  $ (11,761)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

Foreign currency translation 885 594 (1,035) 164

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap 45 — (1,136) —
Other comprehensive income (loss) 930 594 (2,171) 164
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 12,767  $ 2,149 $ 9,153 $ (11,597)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



FORRESTER RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands, unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Impairment of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Net (gains) losses from investments
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Operating lease right-of-use asset amortization and impairments
Amortization of deferred financing fees
Foreign currency (gains) losses
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Deferred commissions
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Other investing activity

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings, net of costs
Payments on borrowings
Payment of debt issuance costs
Deferred acquisition payments
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee equity incentive plans
Taxes paid related to net share settlements of stock-based compensation awards

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash (received) paid for income taxes

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020 2019
11,324 $ (11,761)
4,854 4,189
626 —
9,425 11,309
(2,365) 44
(1,737) (10,814)
5,266 5,533
7,417 6,415
490 474
) 498
29,955 22,476
5,295 840
404 (1,451)
704 3,170
(33,548) (9,976)
(6,902) 18,799
(6,204) (6,216)
25,002 33,529
— (238,943)
(5,110) (4,666)
— 30
(5,110) (243,579)
— 171,275
(18,688) (33,125)
— (857)
— (766)
2,010 4,280
(951) (130)
(17,629) 140,677
(2,254) 189
9 (69,184)
69,192 140,296
$ 69,201 $ 71,112
$ 2,368 $ 3,791
$ 73) $ 2,540

Non-cash financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2019 include $3.7 million of debt issuance costs deducted directly from the proceeds of

borrowings by the lender. Refer to Note 4 — Debt for further information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



FORRESTER RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Note 1 — Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for reporting on Form 10-Q. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures required for complete financial
statements are not included herein. The year-end balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures
required by GAAP. It is recommended that these financial statements be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes
that appear in the Forrester Research, Inc. (“Forrester”) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair statement of the financial position, results of
operations, comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows as of the dates and for the periods presented have been included. The results of operations for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2020 may not be indicative of the results for the year ending December 31, 2020, or any other period.

Due to the Company’s operating segment realignment during the three months ended June 30, 2020, the revenue line items in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations were updated to present Events revenues as a separate financial statement line. In the prior presentation, Events revenues were
combined within the “Advisory services and events revenues” financial statement line. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current period
presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on the amount of total revenues previously reported.

Liquidity and Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected the Company beginning in March 2020 primarily through lower contract bookings and a
reduction in revenues from the conversion of the Company’s events from in-person to virtual events. The Company also announced that its events in the
second half of 2020 will be held as virtual events. While the duration and severity of this pandemic is uncertain, the Company currently expects a reduction
in its subscription Research, Connect and Analytics revenues during the second half of 2020 due to reduced customer contract booking activity that began
in March 2020, and which is expected to continue through at least the third quarter of 2020. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately
impacts the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and liquidity may differ from the Company’s current estimates due
to inherent uncertainties regarding the duration and further spread of the outbreak, its severity, actions taken to contain the virus or treat its impact, and how
quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume.

The Company has implemented several cost-reduction measures that include reductions to travel, new hiring, and employee incentive compensation
programs. The Company will continue to proactively respond to the situation and may take further actions that alter the Company’s business operations as
may be required by governmental authorities, or that the Company determines are in the best interests of its employees and customers.

As of June 30, 2020, the Company is in compliance with its financial covenants under its Credit Agreement (refer to Note 4 — Debt). The Company
currently forecasts that it will be in compliance with its financial covenants for at least one year from the issuance of these interim financial statements,
after taking into consideration the measures noted above. If the impact of COVID-19 is more severe than currently forecasted this may impact the
Company’s ability to comply with its financial covenants which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

The Company assessed certain accounting estimates that generally require consideration of forecasted financial information in context with the
information reasonably available to it and the unknown future impacts COVID-19 as of June 30, 2020 and through the date of this report. The accounting
matters assessed included, but were not limited to, the allowance for expected credit losses, the carrying value of its goodwill and other long-lived assets,
valuation allowances for tax assets, and revenue recognition. While there was not a material impact to the consolidated financial statements resulting from
the Company’s assessments as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company’s future assessment of its current expectations of the
magnitude and duration of COVID-19, as well as other factors, could result in material impacts to its consolidated financial statements in future reporting
periods.



Presentation of Restricted Cash

The following table summarizes the end-of-period cash and cash equivalents from the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and the total cash,
cash equivalents and restricted cash as presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands).

Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 68,377 $ 69,762
Restricted cash classified in (1):
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 787 203
Other assets 37 1,147
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in statement of cash flows $ 69,201 $ 71,112

(1) Restricted cash consists primarily of collateral required for letters of credit. The short-term or long-term classification is determined in accordance
with the expiration of the underlying lease as the letters of credit are non-cancellable while the leases are in effect.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13, Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“Topic 326”). The standard amends the existing financial instrument
incurred loss impairment model by requiring entities to use a forward-looking approach based on expected losses and to consider a broader range of
reasonable and supportable information to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables. On January 1, 2020,
the Company adopted the standard using the modified retrospective method in which prior periods are not adjusted and recorded a cumulative effect
adjustment of $0.2 million to decrease retained earnings. Expected losses are based, in part, on the Company’s historical loss rate experience as well as
management’s expectations of future losses as informed by current economic conditions.

The allowance for expected credit losses on accounts receivable for the six months ended June 30, 2020 is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Total
Allowance
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 628
Cumulative effect adjustment of adopting Topic 326 218
Provision for expected credit losses 550
Net write-offs (456)
Translation adjustments 9)
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 931

The Company adopted the guidance in ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment on
January 1, 2020. The new standard simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test and
requires that instead, an entity should perform its goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The
adoption of this standard did not impact the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

The Company adopted the guidance in ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement on January 1, 2020. The new standard modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic
820, Fair Value Measurement, including changes to fair value transfers and Level 3 fair value measurements. Changes required upon adoption of this
standard are included in Note 8 — Fair Value Measurements and did not impact the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

The Company adopted the guidance in ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software: Customer’s Accounting for
Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract on January 1, 2020. The new standard aligns the
requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing
implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). The
adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.



Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes — Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The new standard provides
guidance to simplify the accounting for income taxes in certain areas, changes the accounting for select income tax transactions, and makes other minor
improvements. The new standard will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2021. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that this
standard may have on its financial position and results of operations.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) — Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Finance Reporting. The new standard provides optional guidance for a limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for, or recognizing
the effects of, reference rate reform on financial reporting due to the risk of cessation of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). The updates apply
to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR, or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference
rate reform, and as a result require a modification. An entity may elect to apply the amendments immediately or at any point through December 31, 2022.
The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that this standard may have on its financial position and results of operations, including the
standard’s potential impact on any contractual changes in the future that may result from reference rate reform.

Note 2 — Acquisitions

Forrester accounts for business combinations in accordance with the acquisition method of accounting as prescribed by Accounts Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations (“Topic 805”). The acquisition method of accounting requires the Company to record the assets
and liabilities acquired based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, with any excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated
fair value of the net assets acquired, including identifiable intangible assets, to be recorded to goodwill. The Company did not have any business
combinations during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

SiriusDecisions, Inc.

On January 3, 2019, Forrester acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of SiriusDecisions, Inc. (“SiriusDecisions™), a privately-held
company based in Wilton, Connecticut with approximately 350 employees globally. SiriusDecisions equips business-to-business (B2B) sales, marketing,
and product leaders with the actionable research, frameworks, tools, operational benchmarks and expert advice they need to maximize performance and
drive alignment. The acquisition creates several opportunities for the Company, including cross-selling services to the Company’s respective client bases,
extending SiriusDecisions’ platform, methodologies, data, and best-practices tools into new roles, and accelerating international and industry growth. The
acquisition of SiriusDecisions was determined to be an acquisition of a business under the provisions of Topic 805.

Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, the Company paid $246.8 million at closing after certain transaction expense adjustments, which was
subject to a working capital adjustment.

SiriusDecisions’ operating results are reported within the Company’s Research, Consulting and Events segments. During the year ended December
31, 2019, the Company finalized the purchase price allocation and related accounting for the acquisition.

The Company recognized $1.7 million of acquisition costs in the six months ended June 30, 2019 related to the SiriusDecisions acquisition. The
costs primarily consisted of investment banker fees and other professional services costs and are included in acquisition and integration costs within the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Note 3 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six months ended June 30, 2020 is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Total
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 243,895
Translation adjustments (694)
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 243,201

The Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually on November 30, or on an interim basis if an event indicates a specific impairment may
exist. As a result of the Company’s segment realignment during the three months ended June 30, 2020 (refer to Note 14 — Operating Segments for
additional information), the Company performed a qualitative assessment of goodwill for all reporting units immediately prior to and after the reporting
unit change. The Company concluded that no impairment existed.

As of June 30, 2020, the Company had no accumulated goodwill impairment losses.



Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

The carrying values of finite-lived intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2020

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
Amortizable intangible assets
Customer relationships $ 109,688 $ 44303 $ 65,385
Technology 16,719 8,550 8,169
Backlog 13,000 9,750 3,250
Trademarks 12,459 1,269 11,190
Total $ 151,866 $ 63,872 $ 87,994

December 31, 2019

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amortization
Amortizable intangible assets
Customer relationships $ 109,825 $ 40,169 $ 69,656
Technology 16,661 7,051 9,610
Backlog 13,000 6,500 6,500
Trademarks 12,451 854 11,597
Total $ 151,937 $ 54,574  $ 97,363

Estimated intangible asset amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years is as follows (in thousands):

2020 (remainder) $ 9,427
2021 12,355
2022 11,016
2023 10,840
2024 9,730
Thereafter 34,626
Total $ 87,994

Note 4 — Debt

In connection with the acquisition of SiriusDecisions, on January 3, 2019 (the “Closing Date”) the Company entered into a $200.0 million credit
agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides for: (1) senior secured term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million
(the “Term Loans”) and (2) a senior secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $75.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”).
On the Closing Date, the full $125.0 million of the Term Loans and $50.0 million of the Revolving Credit Facility were used to finance a portion of the
acquisition of SiriusDecisions and to pay certain fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition and the Credit Agreement. The Credit
Agreement is scheduled to mature on January 3, 2024.

The Credit Agreement permits the Company to borrow incremental term loans and/or increase commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility in
an aggregate principal amount up to $50.0 million, subject to approval by the administrative agent and certain customary terms and conditions.

The Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility can be repaid early, in part or in whole, at any time and from time to time, without premium or
penalty, other than customary breakage reimbursement requirements for LIBOR based loans. The Term Loans must be prepaid with net cash proceeds of (i)
certain debt incurred or issued by Forrester and its restricted subsidiaries and (ii) certain asset sales and condemnation or casualty events, subject to certain
reinvestment rights.
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Amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at Forrester’s option, at a rate per annum equal to either (i) LIBOR for the applicable
interest period plus a margin that is between 1.75% and 2.50% based on Forrester’s consolidated total leverage ratio or (ii) the alternate base rate plus a
margin that is between 0.75% and 1.50% based on Forrester’s consolidated total leverage ratio. In addition, the Company pays a commitment fee that is
between 0.25% and 0.35% per annum, based on Forrester’s consolidated total leverage ratio, on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit
Facility, payable quarterly, in arrears.

The Term Loans require repayment of the outstanding principal balance in quarterly installments each year, with the balance repayable on the
maturity date, subject to customary exceptions. As of June 30, 2020, the amount payable in each year a is set forth in the table below (in thousands):

2020 (remainder) $ 4,688
2021 12,500
2022 12,500
2023 15,625
2024 68,750
Total remaining principal payments $ 114,063

The Revolving Credit Facility does not require repayment prior to maturity, subject to customary exceptions. In addition to financing the acquisition,
proceeds from the Revolving Credit Facility can also be used towards working capital and general corporate purposes. Up to $5.0 million of the Revolving
Credit Facility is available for the issuance of letters of credit, and any drawings under the letters of credit must be reimbursed within one business day. As
of June 30, 2020, $0.9 million in letters of credit were issued under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Forrester incurred $1.8 million in costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility, which are recorded in other assets on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. These costs are being amortized as interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations on a straight-line basis over the five-year term of
the Revolving Credit Facility. Forrester incurred $2.8 million in costs related to the Term Loans, which are recorded as a reduction to the face value of
long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These costs are being amortized as interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations
utilizing the effective interest rate method.

Outstanding Borrowings

The following table summarizes the Company’s total outstanding borrowings as of the dates indicated (in thousands):

Description: June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Term loan facility (1) $ 114,063 $ 118,750
Revolving credit facility (2) — 14,000
Principal amount outstanding (3) 114,063 132,750
Less: Deferred financing fees (1,890) (2,205)
Net carrying amount $ 112,173  $ 130,545

(1) The contractual annualized interest rate as of June 30, 2020 on the Term loan facility was 2.1875%, which consisted of LIBOR of 0.1875% plus a
margin of 2.00%. However, the Company has an interest rate swap that effectively converts the floating LIBOR base rates on a portion of the amounts
outstanding to a fixed base rate. Refer to Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging for further information on the swap.

(2) The Company had $75.0 million of available borrowing capacity on the revolver (not including the expansion feature) as of June 30, 2020.

(3) The weighted average annual effective rate on the Company's total debt outstanding for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, was 2.54% and
3.24%, respectively.

The Credit Agreement contains certain customary restrictive loan covenants, including among others, financial covenants that apply a maximum
leverage ratio and minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. The maximum leverage ratio is based on total debt outstanding at the measurement date divided
by EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and the fixed charge coverage ratio is based upon EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement), less
capital expenditures, as a ratio to certain fixed charges, including Term Loan amortization, cash interest expense and cash taxes. The negative covenants
limit, subject to various exceptions, the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, merge, consolidate, liquidate or dissolve
any part of the Company, sell assets, pay dividends or other payments in respect to capital stock, change fiscal year, or enter into certain transactions with
affiliates and subsidiaries. The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default, representations, and warranties.
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As of June 30, 2020, the Company is in compliance with its financial covenants under the Credit Agreement. The Company currently forecasts that
it will be in compliance with its financial covenants for at least one year from the issuance of these interim financial statements, after taking into
consideration the cost-reduction measures implemented during the first quarter of the year. If the impact of COVID-19 is more severe than currently
forecasted this may impact the Company’s ability to comply with its financial covenants, and it is not certain that the Company would be able to
renegotiate the terms of the Credit Agreement in order to provide relief related to the financial covenants. If the Company were unable to meet its financial
covenants and then were unable to renegotiate the terms of its financial covenants, all debt outstanding under the Credit Agreement could become
immediately due and payable.

All obligations under the Credit Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Company’s existing and future, direct and indirect
material wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, other than certain excluded subsidiaries, and are collateralized by a first priority lien on substantially all
tangible and intangible assets including intellectual property and all of the capital stock of the Company and its subsidiaries (limited to 65% of the voting
equity of certain subsidiaries).

Note 5 — Leases

All of the Company’s leases are operating leases, the majority of which are for office space. Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and non-
current operating lease liabilities are included as individual line items on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, while short-term operating lease liabilities are
recorded within accrued expenses and other current liabilities. Leases with an initial term of twelve months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets and are not material.

The components of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Operating lease cost $ 3,944 % 3,727
Short-term lease cost 81 85
Variable lease cost 1,660 1,335
Sublease income (63) —
Total lease cost $ 5622 % 5,147

For the Six Months Ended June 30,

2020 2019
Operating lease cost $ 7,935 $ 7,296
Short-term lease cost 163 340
Variable lease cost 3,016 2,569
Sublease income (124) —
Total lease cost $ 10,990 $ 10,205

Additional lease information is summarized in the following table (in thousands, except lease term and discount rate):

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating $ 6.204 $ 6.216
lease liabilities ’ ’
Operating right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease $ 3.898 $ 16.626
obligations ’ ’
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases (years) 6.1 6.7
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 5.0% 51%
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases as of June 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

2020 (remainder) $ 7,654
2021 14,202
2022 14,106
2023 13,587
2024 13,215
Thereafter 24,698
Total lease payments 87,462
Less imputed interest (12,243)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 75,219

Lease balances as of June 30, 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 63,837
Short-term operating lease liabilities (1) $ 11,729
Non-current operating lease liabilities 63,490

Total operating lease liabilities $ 75,219

(1) Included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company’s leases do not contain residual value guarantees, material restrictions or covenants, and all sublease transactions are not material. The
Company incurred $1.4 million of ROU asset impairments during the three months ended March 31, 2020 related to facility leases from the
SiriusDecisions, Inc. acquisition. These impairments are recorded in acquisition and integration costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not enter into any new leases. As of June 30, 2020, only one of the operating leases
entered into during the prior quarter had not yet commenced. This operating lease, which consists of $13.9 million of undiscounted lease payments, has a
lease term of ten years and is expected to commence later in 2020.

Additionally, the Company could receive a variable incentive payment from one of its landlords to terminate the related office space lease early. The
range of possible incentive payments is zero to $3.5 million, would be received in late 2020 or the first half of 2021, and is dependent on the Company’s
ability to exit the existing facility by the proposed early termination dates.

Note 6 — Contract Assets and Liabilities
Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable includes amounts billed and currently due from customers. Since the only condition for payment of the Company’s invoices is
the passage of time, a receivable is recorded on the date an invoice is issued. Also included in accounts receivable are unbilled amounts resulting from
revenue exceeding the amount billed to the customer, where the right to payment is unconditional. If the right to payment for services performed was
conditional on something other than the passage of time, the unbilled amount would be recorded as a separate contract asset. There were no contract assets
as of June 30, 2020 or 2019.

The majority of the Company’s contracts are non-cancellable. However, for contracts that are cancellable by the customer, the Company does not
record a receivable when it issues an invoice. The Company records accounts receivable on these contracts only up to the amount of revenue earned but not
yet collected.

In addition, since the majority of the Company’s contracts are for a duration of one year and payment is expected within one year from the transfer
of products and services, the Company does not adjust its receivables or transaction price for the effects of a significant financing component.
Deferred Revenue

The Company refers to contract liabilities as deferred revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Payment terms in the Company’s customer
contracts vary, but generally require payment in advance of fully satisfying the performance obligation(s). Deferred revenue consists of billings in excess of
revenue recognized. Similar to accounts receivable, the Company does not record deferred revenue for invoices issued on a cancellable contract.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized revenue of $43.2 and $53.5 million, respectively, related to its
deferred revenue balance at the beginning of each such period. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized revenue of
$113.1 and $111.6 million, respectively, related to its deferred revenue balance at the
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beginning of each such period. To determine revenue recognized in each such period from deferred revenue at the beginning of the period, the Company
first allocates revenue to the individual deferred revenue balance outstanding at the beginning of the period, until the revenue equals that balance.

Approximately $309.8 million of revenue is expected to be recognized during the next 12 to 24 months from remaining performance obligations as
of June 30, 2020.

Cost to Obtain Contracts

The Company capitalizes commissions paid to internal sales representatives and related fringe benefits costs that are incremental to obtaining
customer contracts. These costs are included in deferred commissions on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company accounts for these costs at a
portfolio level as the Company’s contracts are similar in nature and the amortization model used closely matches the amortization expense that would be
recognized on a contract-by-contract basis. Costs to obtain a contract are amortized to operations as the related revenue is recognized over the initial
contract term. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $9.0 million and $8.9
million, respectively. Amortization expense related to deferred commissions for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $17.2 million and $16.0
million, respectively. The Company evaluates the recoverability of deferred commissions at each balance sheet date.

Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging

The Company enters into derivative contracts (an interest rate swap and foreign currency forwards) to mitigate the cash flow risk associated with
changes in interest rates on its variable rate debt (see Note 4 — Debt) and changes in foreign exchange rates on forecasted foreign currency transactions. The
Company accounts for its derivate contracts in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 815 — Derivatives and Hedging (“Topic 815”), which requires all
derivatives, including derivatives designated as accounting hedges, to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value.

Interest Rate Swap

At June 30, 2020, the Company had a single interest rate swap contract that matures in 2022, with an initial notional amount of $95.0 million. The
notional amount at June 30, 2020 was $84.9 million. The Company pays a base fixed rate of 1.65275% and in return receives the greater of (1) 1-month
LIBOR, rounded up to the nearest 1/16 of a percent, or (2) 0.00%. The fair value of the swap on June 30, 2020 was a liability of $1.7 million (see Note 8 —
Fair Value Measurements for information on determining the fair value). The liability is included in other non-current liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

The swap has been designated and accounted for as a cash flow hedge of the forecasted interest payments on the Company’s debt. As long as the
swap continues to be a highly effective hedge of the designated interest rate risk, changes in the fair value of the swap are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss, a component of equity. Any ineffective portion of a change in the fair value of a hedge is recorded in earnings.

As required under Topic 815, the swap’s effectiveness is assessed on a quarterly basis. Since its inception, and through June 30, 2020, the interest
rate swap was considered highly effective. Accordingly, the entire $1.2 million negative fair value as of June 30, 2020 is recorded, net of taxes, in other
comprehensive loss. The Company expects $0.8 million of this loss, net of taxes, to be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months.

Foreign Currency Forwards

The Company enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to mitigate the effects of adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates on transactions entered into in the normal course of business that are denominated in foreign currencies that differ from the local functional currency.
These contracts generally have short durations and are recorded at fair value with both realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded in other income
(expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations because the Company does not designate these contracts as hedges for accounting purposes.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company entered into three foreign currency forward exchange contracts, all of which settled by
June 30, 2020. Accordingly, as of June 30, 2020, there are no amounts recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for these contracts.
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The Company’s derivative counterparties are investment grade financial institutions. The Company does not have any collateral arrangements with
its derivative counterparties and the derivative contracts do not contain credit risk related contingent features. The table below provides information
regarding amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for derivative contracts for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
Amount recorded in: 2020 2019 2020 2019
Interest expense (1) $ (252) $ $ (239) $ —
Other income (expense), net (2) (157) — (157) —
Total $ (409) $ — $ (396) $ —

(1) Consists of interest expense from interest rate swap contract.
(2) Consists of net realized gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts.

The Company did not have any derivatives as of, or during, the six months ended June 30, 2019.

Note 8 — Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses
(excluding the contingent consideration discussed below) approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. The Company’s financial instruments
also include its outstanding variable-rate borrowings (refer to Note 4 — Debt). The Company believes that the carrying amount of its variable-rate
borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values because the rates of interest on those borrowings reflect current market rates of interest.

Additionally, the Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis including cash equivalents, contingent
purchase price related to acquisitions, and its derivative contracts. The fair values of these financial assets and liabilities have been classified as Level 1, 2
or 3 within the fair value hierarchy as described in the accounting standards for fair value measurements:

Level 1 — Fair value based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Fair value based on inputs other than Level 1 inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 — Fair value based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and such inputs are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities.
The following table represents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (in thousands):

As of June 30, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds (1) $ 512 $ — $ — $ 512
Total Assets $ 512 $ — $ — $ 512
Liabilities

Contingent purchase price (2) $ — $ — $ (2,603) $ (2,603)

Interest rate swap (3) — $ (1,725) — (1,725)
Total Liabilities $ — % (1,725)  $ (2,603) $ (4,328)
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As of December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds (1) $ 2,354 $ — $ — $ 2,354
Total Assets $ 2,354 $ — $ — $ 2,354
Liabilities

Contingent purchase price (2) $ — $ — $ (2,511) $ (2,511)

Interest rate swap (3) — $ (144) — (144)
Total Liabilities $ — 3 (144)  $ (2,511) $ (2,655)

(1) Included in cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(2) The acquisition of FeedbackNow on July 6, 2018 included a contingent consideration arrangement that required up to $4.2 million of consideration to
be paid to the sellers based on the financial performance of FeedbackNow during the two-year period subsequent to the closing date. The fair value of
the remaining contingent consideration to be paid to the sellers is $2.6 million at June 30, 2020 and $2.5 million at December 31, 2019, and is
included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(3) The Company has an interest rate swap contract that hedges the risk of variability from interest payments on its borrowings (see Note 4 — Debt and
Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging). The fair value of the interest rate swap is based on valuations prepared by a third-party broker. Those valuations
are based on observable interest rates and other observable market data, which the Company considers Level 2 inputs.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not transfer assets or liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy.
Additionally, there have been no changes to the valuation techniques for Level 2 or Level 3 liabilities.

Level 3 liabilities at June 30, 2020 consist entirely of the contingent purchase price related to the acquisition of FeedbackNow. Changes in the fair
value of Level 3 contingent consideration for the six months ended June 30, 2020 were as follows (in thousands):

Contingent
Consideration
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ (2,511)
Fair value adjustment of contingent purchase price (1) (22)
Payment of contingent purchase price —
Foreign exchange effect (70)
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ (2,603)

(1) This amount was recognized as acquisition and integration costs within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of June 30, 2020, the
remaining range of undiscounted amounts that could be payable under this arrangement is $2.0 million to $2.6 million. The amount is expected to be
finalized and paid to the sellers by the end of 2020. The significant unobservable inputs used in the Monte Carlo simulation to fair value the
contingent consideration included projected contract bookings, a discount rate of 17.3%, and revenue volatility of 26.6%. Increases or decreases in the
inputs would result in a higher or lower fair value measurement.

Note 9 — Income Taxes

Forrester provides for income taxes on an interim basis according to management’s estimate of the effective tax rate expected to be applicable for
the full fiscal year. Certain items such as changes in tax rates, tax benefits or expense related to settlements of share-based payment awards, and foreign
currency gains or losses are treated as discrete items and are recorded in the period in which they arise.

Income tax expense for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $0.3 million resulting in an effective tax rate of 2.2% for the period. Income tax
expense for the six months ended June 30, 2019 was $0.7 million resulting in an effective tax rate of (6.0)% for the period. The decrease in income tax
expense during the 2020 period was due to the release of a U.S. valuation allowance on capital loss carryforwards.

The Company anticipates that its effective tax rate for the full year 2020 will be approximately 1%.

On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security ("CARES") Act to provide certain relief as a result of the
COVID-19 outbreak. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that the provisions in the CARES may have on its financial position and
results of operations.
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In July 2015, the U.S. Tax Court issued an opinion in Altera Corp. v. Commissioner related to the treatment of stock-based compensation expense in
an intercompany cost-sharing arrangement. The opinion invalidates part of a treasury regulation requiring stock-based compensation to be included in any
qualified intercompany cost-sharing arrangement. The Company previously recorded a tax benefit based on the opinion in the case. In June 2019, the U.S.
Court of Appeals for Ninth Circuit reversed the U.S. Tax Court’s decision. Altera Corp. submitted its appeal for an en banc rehearing before the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which was subsequently denied. During 2020, Altera Corp. submitted a request to the Supreme Court to accept the case
for review, which was also denied, resulting in finality of any legal recourse. The Company maintains its previously recorded tax benefit in accordance with
the U.S. Tax Court decision.

Note 10 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows (net of tax, in thousands):

Total Accumulated

Interest Rate Translation Other Comprehensive
Swap Adjustment Loss
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ (1,285) $ (6,673) $ (7,958)
Other comprehensive income (loss) activity during the period:

Foreign currency translation — 885 885

Unrealized loss before reclassification (136) — (136)

Reclassification of realized losses to income 181 — 181
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period 45 885 930
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ (1,240) $ (5,788) $ (7,028)

Total Accumulated
Translation Other Comprehensive
Adjustment Loss
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ (5,584) $ (5,584)
Other comprehensive income (loss) activity during the period:

Foreign currency translation 594 594
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period 594 594
Balance at June 30, 2019 $ (4,990) $ (4,990)

Total Accumulated
Interest Rate Translation Other Comprehensive
Swap Adjustment Loss
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ (104) $ 4,753) $ (4,857)
Other comprehensive income (loss) activity during the period:

Foreign currency translation — (1,035) (1,035)

Unrealized loss before reclassification (1,308) — (1,308)

Reclassification of realized losses to income 172 — 172
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period (1,136) (1,035) (2,171)
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ (1,240) $ (5,788) $ (7,028)

Total Accumulated
Translation Other Comprehensive
Adjustment Loss
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (5,154) $ (5,154)
Other comprehensive income (loss) activity during the period:

Foreign currency translation 164 164
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period 164 164
Balance at June 30, 2019 $ (4,990) $ (4,990)

Note 11 — Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the basic weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the diluted weighted average
number of common shares and common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. The
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weighted average number of common equivalent shares outstanding has been determined in accordance with the treasury-stock method. Common
equivalent shares consist of common stock issuable on the exercise of outstanding stock options and the vesting of restricted stock units.

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 18,759 18,435 18,732 18,399
Weighted average common equivalent shares 72 345 96 —
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 18,831 18,780 18,828 18,399
Options and restricted stock units excluded from diluted

weighted average share calculation as effect would have

been anti-dilutive 733 1 441 1,084

Note 12 — Stockholders’ Equity

The components of stockholders’ equity are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Common Stock Treasury Stock Accumulated
Number $0.01 Additional Number Other
of Par Paid-in Retained of Comprehensive Total
Shares Value Capital Earnings Shares Cost Income (Loss) Equity
Balance at March 31, 2020 23,389 $ 234 $220,308 $117,477 4,631 $(171,889) $ (7,958) $158,172
Issuance of common stock under
stock plans, net 12 — 6 — — — — 6
Stock-based compensation expense — — 2,464 — — — — 2,464
Net income — — — 11,837 — — — 11,837
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 930 930
Balance at June 30, 2020 23,401 $ 234 $222,778 $129314 4,631 $(171,889) $ (7,028) $173,409
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Common Stock Treasury Stock Acc lated
Number $0.01 Additional Number Other
of Par Paid-in Retained of Comprehensive Total
Shares Value Capital Earnings Shares Cost Income (Loss) Equity
Balance at March 31, 2019 23,050 $ 231 $206,655 $114,401 4,631 $(171,889) $ (5,584) $143,814
Issuance of common stock under 39 . 875 . o o . 875
stock plans, net
Stock-based compensation expense — — 2,848 — — — — 2,848
Net income — — — 1,555 — — — 1,555
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 594 594
Balance at June 30, 2019 23,089 $ 231 $210,378 $115,956 4,631 $(171,889) $ (4,990) $149,686

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Common Stock Treasury Stock Accumulated
Number $0.01 Additional Number Other
of Par Paid-in Retained of Comprehensive Total
Shares Value Capital Earnings Shares Cost Income (Loss) Equity
Balance at December 31, 2019 23,275 $ 233 $216,454 $118,147 4,631 $(171,889) $ (4,857) $158,088
Issuance of common stock under
stock plans, net 126 1 1,058 — — — — 1,059
Stock-based compensation expense — — 5,266 — — — — 5,266
Cumulative effect adjustment due
to adoption of new accounting — — — (157) — — — (157)
pronouncement, net of tax of $61
Net income — — — 11,324 — — — 11,324
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (2,171) (2,171)
Balance at June 30, 2020 23,401 $ 234 $222,778 $129,314 4,631 $(171,889) $ (7,028) $173,409
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

Common Stock Treasury Stock Accumulated
Number $0.01 Additional Number Other
of Par Paid-in Retained of Comprehensive Total
Shares Value Capital Earnings Shares Cost Income (Loss) Equity
Balance at December 31, 2018 22,951 $ 230 $200,696 $127,717 4,631 $(171,889) $ (5,154) $151,600
Issuance of common stock under
stock plans, net 138 1 4,149 — — — — 4,150
Stock-based compensation expense — — 5,533 — — — — 5,533
Net loss — — — (11,761) — — — (11,761)
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 164 164
Balance at June 30, 2019 23,089 $ 231 $210,378 $115,956 4,631 $(171,889) $ (4,990) $149,686
Equity Plans

Restricted stock unit activity for the six months ended June 30, 2020 is presented below (in thousands, except per share data):

Weighted-
Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2019 656 $ 42.94
Granted 62 31.06
Vested (83) 44.04
Forfeited (76) 43.77
Unvested at June 30, 2020 559 $ 41.35

Stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2020 is presented below (in thousands, except per share data and contractual term):

Weighted - Weighted -
Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Number Price Per Contractual Intrinsic
of Shares Share Term (in years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 436 $ 35.62
Granted — —
Exercised (28) 32.96
Forfeited (38) 38.25
Outstanding at June 30, 2020 370 $ 35.56 340 $ 15
Exercisable at June 30, 2020 367 $ 35.52 338 % 15
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2020 370 $ 35.56 340 $ 15

Stock-Based Compensation

Forrester recognizes the fair value of stock-based compensation over the requisite service period of the individual grantee, which generally equals
the vesting period. Stock-based compensation was recorded in the following expense categories in the Consolidated Statements of Operations (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Cost of services and fulfillment $ 1,232 $ 1,567 $ 2,825 $ 3,030
Selling and marketing 423 485 785 925
General and administrative 809 796 1,656 1,578
Total $ 2,464 $ 2,848 $ 5266 $ 5,533
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Forrester utilizes the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating the fair value of shares subject to purchase under the employee stock purchase
plan, which were valued using the following assumptions:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
Average risk-free interest rate 0.30% 2.51% 0.30% 2.51%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected life 0.5 Years 0.5 Years 0.5 Years 0.5 Years
Expected volatility 26% 34% 26% 34%
Weighted average fair value $ 810 §$ 1250 $ 810 $ 12.50

Dividends

As aresult of the acquisition of SiriusDecisions on January 3, 2019 (see Note 2 — Acquisitions), and the related debt incurred to fund the acquisition
(see Note 4 — Debt), the Company suspended its dividends program in 2019. The Company did not declare or pay any dividends in the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Treasury Stock

As of June 30, 2020, Forrester’s Board of Directors had authorized an aggregate $535.0 million to purchase common stock under its stock
repurchase program. The shares repurchased may be used, among other things, in connection with Forrester’s equity incentive and purchase plans. In the
six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock. From the inception of the program through
June 30, 2020, the Company repurchased 16.3 million shares of common stock at an aggregate cost of $474.9 million.

Note 13 — Non-Marketable Investments

At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the carrying value of the Company’s non-marketable investments, which were composed of interests in
technology-related private equity funds, was $4.9 million and $2.5 million, respectively. At June 30, 2020, $4.3 million is included in prepaid expenses and
other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Forrester received a distribution of this amount from the underlying funds during July 2020. The
remaining $0.6 million, and the entire balance at December 31, 2019, is included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company’s non-marketable investments are accounted for using the equity method as the investments are limited partnerships and the Company
has an ownership interest in excess of 5% and, accordingly, the Company records its share of the investee’s operating results each period. Gains from non-
marketable investments were $2.4 million during each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and are included in gain (loss) on investments, net
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Gains (losses) from non-marketable investments were immaterial during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2019.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, no distributions were received from the funds.

Note 14 — Operating Segments

As described in the Company’s Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2020, Forrester’s Chief Product Officer resigned from the Company effective April 17,
2020. Subsequently, the Chief Product Officer position was eliminated and the Company reorganized its operations to reflect three lines of business:
Research, Consulting, and Events. As a result of these changes, during the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company realigned its internal reporting
into Research, Consulting, and Events. The realignment eliminated the Products segment as the product lines and organizations supporting the related
revenues began operating under the new management structure. The prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current presentation.

The Research segment includes the revenues of the Research, Connect and Analytics products and the cost of the organizations responsible for
developing and delivering these products. In addition, this segment includes Consulting revenues from the delivery of advisory services (such as
workshops, speeches and advisory days) delivered by the Company’s research and analytics analysts. The costs of the product management organization
that is responsible for product pricing and packaging, and the launch of new products is included in this segment.

The Consulting segment includes the revenues and the related costs of the Company’s project consulting organization. The project consulting
organization delivers a majority of the Company’s project consulting revenue and certain advisory services.

The Events segment includes the revenues and the costs of the organization responsible for developing and hosting in-person and virtual events.
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The Company evaluates reportable segment performance and allocates resources based on segment revenues and expenses. Segment expenses
include the direct expenses of each segment organization and excludes selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, stock-based
compensation expense, depreciation expense, adjustments to incentive bonus compensation from target amounts, amortization of intangible assets, interest
and other expense, and gains (losses) on investments. The accounting policies used by the segments are the same as those used in the consolidated financial

statements.

The Company provides disaggregated revenue by product in the segment tables below (in thousands):

Research Consulting Events Consolidated

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020
Research revenues

Research $ 55,358 $ —  $ —  $ 55,358

Connect 13,078 — — 13,078

Analytics 5,185 — — 5,185
Total research revenues 73,621 — — 73,621
Consulting 13,351 21,537 — 34,888
Events — — 5,032 5,032
Total segment revenues 86,972 21,537 5,032 113,541
Segment expenses (25,870) (10,099) (3,206) (39,175)
Selling, marketing, administrative and other expenses (57,810)
Amortization of intangible assets (4,713)
Acquisition and integration costs (612)
Interest expense, other expense and gains on investments 844
Income before income taxes $ 12,075

Research Consulting Events Consolidated

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Research revenues

Research $ 56,305 $ —  $ —  $ 56,305

Connect 14,067 — — 14,067

Analytics 5,907 — — 5,907
Total research revenues 76,279 — — 76,279
Consulting 15,024 18,993 — 34,017
Events — — 17,887 17,887
Total segment revenues 91,303 18,993 17,887 128,183
Segment expenses (31,209) (9,474) (10,693) (51,376)
Selling, marketing, administrative and other expenses (64,599)
Amortization of intangible assets (5,099)
Acquisition and integration costs (2,487)
Interest expense, other expense and losses on investments (2,179)
Income before income taxes $ 2,443
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
Research revenues
Research
Connect
Analytics
Total research revenues
Consulting
Events
Total segment revenues
Segment expenses
Selling, marketing, administrative and other expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Acquisition and integration costs
Interest expense, other income and gains on investments
Income before income taxes

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Research revenues
Research
Connect
Analytics
Total research revenues
Consulting
Events
Total segment revenues
Segment expenses
Selling, marketing, administrative and other expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Acquisition and integration costs
Interest expense, other expense and losses on investments
Loss before income taxes

Research Consulting Events Consolidated
$ 108,964 — — $ 108,964
26,967 — — 26,967
10,486 — — 10,486
146,417 — — 146,417
27,377 40,970 — 68,347
— — 5,122 5,122
173,794 40,970 5,122 219,886
(53,334) (20,120)  (3,883) (77,337)
(117,685)
(9,425)
(3,487)
(371)
$ 11,581
Research Consulting Events Consolidated
$ 106,085 — — $ 106,085
27,638 — — 27,638
11,165 — — 11,165
144,888 — — 144,888
29,411 36,392 — 65,803
— — 18,141 18,141
174,299 36,392 18,141 228,832
(61,148) (18,908)  (11,665) (91,721)
(126,610)
(11,309)
(5,454)
(4,837)
$  (11,099)
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Words such as “expects,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” or similar expressions are intended to identify these forward-
looking statements. Reference is made in particular to our statements about possible acquisitions, payments pursuant to existing acquisition agreements,
acquisition and integration costs, future dividends, future share repurchases, future growth rates and operating income, future compliance with financial
covenants under our credit facility, anticipated increases in, and productivity of, our sales force and headcount, and the adequacy of our cash and cash flows
to satisfy our working capital and capital expenditures. These statements are based on our current plans and expectations and involve risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual future activities and results of operations to be materially different from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Important
factors that could cause actual future activities and results to differ include, among others, our ability to retain and enrich subscriptions to, and licenses of,
our Research, Connect, and Analytics products, our ability to fulfill existing or generate new advisory and consulting engagements, our ability to generate
and increase demand for the Events we host, technology spending, our ability to mitigate the adverse impact from the widespread outbreak of COVID-19
which could disrupt or restrict our ability to sell or fulfill, or reduce demand for, our products, services, and events, the risks and challenges inherent in
international business activities including any impact of Brexit, our ability to offer new products and services, our dependence on key personnel, our ability
to attract and retain qualified professional staff, our ability to respond to business and economic conditions and market trends, our ability to integrate the
operations of acquired companies, the impact of our outstanding debt, the possibility of network disruptions and security breaches, competition and
industry consolidation, our ability to enforce and protect our intellectual property rights, compliance with privacy laws, possible variations in our quarterly
operating results, taxation risks, concentration of our stock ownership, and any weakness identified in our system of internal controls. These risks are
described more completely in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 and in Item 1A of Part II of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise.

» «

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected us beginning in March 2020 primarily through lower contract bookings and a reduction in
revenues from the conversion of our events from in-person events to virtual events. We also announced that our events in the second half of 2020 will be
held as virtual events. While the duration and severity of this pandemic is uncertain, we currently expect a reduction in our subscription Research, Connect
and Analytics revenues during the second half of the 2020 due to reduced customer contract booking activity that began in March 2020, and which is
expected to continue through at least the third quarter of 2020. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately impacts our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, and liquidity may differ from our current estimates due to inherent uncertainties regarding the duration and
further spread of the outbreak, its severity, actions taken to contain the virus or treat its impact, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and
operating conditions can resume.

We have implemented several cost-reduction measures that include reductions to travel, new hiring, and employee incentive compensation
programs. We will continue to proactively respond to the situation and may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be required by
governmental authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees and customers.

As previously noted, on January 3, 2019, we acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of SiriusDecisions, Inc., a privately held company
based in Wilton, Connecticut with approximately 350 employees globally. SiriusDecisions equips business-to-business (B2B) sales, marketing, and product
leaders with the actionable research, frameworks, tools, operational benchmarks and expert advice to maximize performance and drive alignment. Pursuant
to the terms of the merger agreement, we paid $246.8 million at closing. Net cash paid, which accounts for the cash acquired of $7.9 million and a
subsequent working capital adjustment, was $237.7 million. We paid for the acquisition with $175.0 million of debt and cash on hand. See Note 2 -
Acquisitions and Note 4 — Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the acquisition and related debt obligations.
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We derive revenues from subscriptions to our Research, Connect and Analytics products and services, licensing electronic “reprints” of our
Research, performing advisory services and consulting projects, and hosting Events. We offer contracts for our Research, Connect and Analytics products
that are typically renewable annually and payable in advance. Subscription products are recognized as revenue ratably over the term of the contract.
Accordingly, a substantial portion of our billings are initially recorded as deferred revenue. Reprints include an obligation to deliver a customer-selected
research document and certain usage data provided through an on-line platform, which represents two performance obligations. We recognize revenue for
the performance obligation for the data portion of the reprint ratably over the license term. We recognize revenue for the performance obligation for the
research document at the time of providing access to the document. Billings for licensing of reprints are initially recorded as deferred revenue. Clients
purchase advisory and consulting services independently and/or to supplement their access to our subscription-based products. Consulting project revenues,
which generally are short-term in nature and based upon fixed-fee agreements, are recognized as the services are provided. Advisory service revenues, such
as workshops, speeches and advisory days, are recognized when the service is complete or the customer receives the agreed upon deliverable. Billings
attributable to advisory services and consulting projects are initially recorded as deferred revenue. Events revenues consist of ticket or sponsorship sales for
a Forrester-hosted event. Billings for Events are also initially recorded as deferred revenue and are recognized as revenue upon completion of each Event.

Our primary operating expenses consist of cost of services and fulfillment, selling and marketing expenses, and general and administrative expenses.
Cost of services and fulfillment represents the costs associated with the production and delivery of our products and services, including salaries, bonuses,
employee benefits and stock-based compensation expense for all personnel that produce and deliver our products and services, including all associated
editorial, travel, and support services. Selling and marketing expenses include salaries, sales commissions, bonuses, employee benefits, stock-based
compensation expense, travel expenses, promotional costs and other costs incurred in marketing and selling our products and services. General and
administrative expenses include the costs of the technology, operations, finance, and human resources groups and our other administrative functions,
including salaries, bonuses, employee benefits, and stock-based compensation expense. Overhead costs such as facilities and annual fees for cloud-based
information technology systems are allocated to these categories according to the number of employees in each group.

Deferred revenue, agreement value, client retention, dollar retention, enrichment, and number of clients are metrics that we believe are important to
understanding our business. We believe that the amount of deferred revenue, along with the agreement value of contracts, provide a significant measure of
our business activity. We define these metrics as follows:

. Deferred revenue — billings in advance of revenue recognition as of the measurement date.

. Agreement value — the total revenues recognizable from all contracts to purchase our services in force at a given time (excluding contracts
that consist solely of Consulting services and the value of Event sponsorships included in all contracts), without regard to how much revenue
has already been recognized.

. Client retention — the percentage of client companies (defined as all clients except those that only purchase web-based products such as
individual reports, workshops and Event tickets) at the prior year measurement date that have active contracts at the current year
measurement date.

. Dollar retention — the percentage of the total dollar value of client companies’ active contracts at the prior year measurement date that have
active contracts at the current year measurement date.

. Enrichment — the dollar value of client companies’ active contracts at the current year measurement date compared to the dollar value of the
corresponding client companies’ active contracts at the prior year measurement date.

. Clients — we aggregate the various divisions and subsidiaries of a corporate parent as a single client and we also aggregate separate
instrumentalities of the federal, state, and provincial governments as a single client. We include only clients that purchased subscription-based
products in our definition of clients.

Client retention, dollar retention, and enrichment are not necessarily indicative of the rate of future retention of our revenue base. A summary of our
key metrics is as follows (dollars in millions):

As of Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase

2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Deferred revenue $ 1708 $ 1809 $ (10.1) (6%)
Agreement value $ 3394  $ 3489 $ (9.5) (3%)
Client retention 66% 73% (7) (10%)
Dollar retention 88% 90% 2) (2%)
Enrichment 98% 108% (10) (9%)
Number of clients 2,679 2,875 (196) (7%)
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Deferred revenue and agreement value decreased 6% and 3%, respectively, at June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year, primarily due to a reduction
in contract billings during the six months ended June 30, 2020 as the economic effects of COVID-19 became widespread in Europe and North America.
Retention and enrichment rates decreased from the prior year as they were negatively affected by a decrease in contract bookings experienced in 2020.

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our policies and estimates, including but not limited to, those related to our
revenue recognition, leases, goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assets, and income taxes. Management bases its estimates on historical experience,
data available at the time the estimates are made and various assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our critical accounting policies and estimates are described in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our statement of operations as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenues:

Research 64.8% 59.5% 66.6% 63.3%

Consulting 30.7 26.5 31.1 28.8

Events 4.5 14.0 2.3 7.9
Total revenues 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Operating expenses:

Cost of services and fulfillment 38.7 44.1 39.7 44.4

Selling and marketing 34.5 34.3 36.1 37.6

General and administrative 10.1 10.3 10.7 11.5

Depreciation 2.2 1.8 2.2 1.9

Amortization of intangible assets 4.2 4.0 4.3 4.9

Acquisition and integration costs 0.4 1.9 1.6 2.4
Income (loss) from operations 9.9 3.6 5.4 2.7)

Interest expense (1.2) (1.6) (1.3) (1.9)

Other income (expense), net 0.2) (0.1) 0.1 0.3)

Gain (loss) on investments, net 2.1 — 1.1 —
Income (loss) before income taxes 10.6 1.9 5.3 4.9)
Income tax expense 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.2
Net income (loss) 10.4% 1.2% 5.1% (5.1%)

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Revenues
Three Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
(dollars in millions)
Revenues $ 1135 % 1282 $ (14.7) (11%)
Research $ 736 % 763 $ 2.7) (4%)
Consulting $ 349 § 340 $ 0.9 3%
Events $ 50 $ 179 % (12.9) (72%)
Revenues attributable to customers outside of the U.S. $ 220 $ 251  $ (3.1) (12%)
Percentage of revenue attributable to customers
outside of the U.S. 19% 20% (1) (5%)

Number of events 3 7 4) (57%)
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Six Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)

(dollars in millions)
Revenues $ 2199 §$ 2288 $ (8.9) (4%)
Research $ 1464 $ 1449 % 1.5 1%
Consulting $ 684 $ 658 $ 2.6 4%
Events $ 51 $ 181 % (13.0) (72%)
Revenues attributable to customers outside of the U.S. $ 434 $ 469 $ (3.5) (7%)
Percentage of revenue attributable to customers outside of

the U.S. 20% 20% — —

Number of events 3 9 (6) (67%)

Total revenues decreased 11% and 4% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year periods and
decreased 15% and 8%, respectively, after adjusting for the fair value adjustment of pre-acquisition deferred revenue that reduced revenues during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2019. Revenues from customers outside the U.S. decreased 12% and 7% during the three and six months ended June 30,
2020, respectively, which was primarily due to a decrease in revenues in Canada and the United Kingdom.

Research revenues are recognized as revenue primarily on a ratable basis over the term of the contracts, which are generally twelve-month periods.
Research revenues decreased 4% and increased 1% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year periods
and decreased 7% and 3%, respectively, after adjusting for the fair value adjustment of pre-acquisition deferred revenue that reduced revenues during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in Research revenues, after adjusting for the deferred revenue fair vale adjustment, was driven by
reduced revenues for the Research, Connect, and Analytics products.

Consulting revenues increased 3% and 4% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year periods
primarily due to growth in project consulting.

Events revenues decreased 72% during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year periods, and decreased 85%
for both periods after adjusting for the fair value adjustment of pre-acquisition deferred revenue that reduced revenues during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in Events revenues was due to lower sponsorship revenues in 2020 compared to the prior year due primarily to the
change to virtual events as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, to a lesser extent, having six fewer events during the 2020 period.

Refer to the “Segments Results” section below for a discussion of revenues and expenses by segment.

Cost of Services and Fulfillment

Three Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Cost of services and fulfillment (dollars in millions) $ 440 $ 56.6 $ (12.6) (22%)
Cost of services and fulfillment as a percentage of
total revenues 38.7% 44.1% (5.4) (12%)
Service and fulfillment employees
(at end of period) 800 761 39 5%
Six Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Cost of services and fulfillment (dollars in millions) $ 873 % 101.7  $ (14.4) (14%)
Cost of services and fulfillment as a percentage of total
revenues 39.7% 44.4% 4.7) (11%)

Cost of services and fulfillment expenses decreased 22% during the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period. The
decrease was primarily due to (1) a $7.6 million decrease in event expenses due to switching our two flagship events to virtual delivery and the cancellation
of two smaller events, both as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, (2) a $2.9 million decrease in compensation and benefit costs, resulting principally from
a decrease in incentive bonuses and other related cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, partially
offset by an increase in headcount and merit increases, (3) a $2.6 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of
the COVID-19
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pandemic, and (4) a $0.3 million decrease in stock compensation expense. These decreases were partially offset by a $1.1 million increase in professional
services costs primarily due to an increase in outsourced services related to revenue delivery.

Cost of services and fulfillment expenses decreased 14% during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period. The decrease
was primarily due to (1) a $7.8 million decrease in event expenses due to switching our two flagship events to virtual delivery and the cancellation of two
smaller events, both as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, (2) a $5.6 million decrease in compensation and benefit costs, resulting principally from a
decrease in incentive bonuses and other related cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset
by an increase in headcount and merit increases, (3) a $3.2 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, and (4) a $0.2 million decrease in stock compensation expense. These decreases were partially offset by a $2.6 million increase in
professional services costs primarily due to an increase in outsourced services related to revenue delivery, survey costs, and product enhancements.

Selling and Marketing

Three Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Selling and marketing expenses (dollars in millions) $ 391 $ 440 $ (4.9) (11%)
Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of
total revenues 34.5% 34.3% 0.2 1%
Selling and marketing employees (at end of period) 806 772 34 4%
Six Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Selling and marketing expenses (dollars in millions) $ 794  $ 86.1 $ (6.7) (8%)
Selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of total
revenues 36.1% 37.6% (1.5) (4%)

Selling and marketing expenses decreased 11% during the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period. The decrease was
primarily due to (1) a $2.5 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, (2) a $1.7
million decrease in compensation and benefit costs, resulting principally from a decrease in incentive bonuses and other related cost-reduction measures
implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as well as a decrease in commissions expense, partially offset by an increase in

headcount and merit increases, (3) a $0.3 million decrease in bad debt expense, and (4) a $0.2 million decrease in marketing costs as a result of moving our
events to virtual delivery.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased 8% during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period. The decrease was
primarily due to (1) a $3.6 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel and other related cost reduction measures as a result
of the COVID-19 pandemic, (2) a $2.4 million decrease in compensation and benefit costs, resulting principally from a decrease in incentive bonuses and
other related cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as a decrease in commissions expense,
partially offset by an increase in headcount and merit increases, and (3) a $0.4 million decrease in marketing and training costs as a result of moving our
events to virtual delivery.

General and Administrative

Three Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
General and administrative expenses (dollars in millions) $ 115 % 132 $ (1.7) (13%)
General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
total revenues 10.1% 10.3% (0.2) (2%)
General and administrative employees (at end of period) 237 245 8) (3%)
Six Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
General and administrative expenses (dollars in millions) $ 235  $ 264 $ (2.9) (11%)
General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
total revenues 10.7% 11.5% (0.8) (7%)
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General and administrative expenses decreased 13% during the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period. The decrease
was primarily due to (1) a $1.2 million decrease in compensation and benefit costs, resulting principally from a decrease in incentive bonuses and other
related cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as a decrease in headcount, and (2) a $0.3
million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

General and administrative expenses decreased 11% during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period. The decrease was
primarily due to (1) a $2.6 million decrease in compensation and benefit costs, resulting principally from a decrease in incentive bonuses and other related
cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and (2) a $0.3 million decrease in travel and entertainment
expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Depreciation
Depreciation expense increased by $0.3 million and $0.7 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the
prior year periods due primarily to additional leasehold improvements being put into service.
Amortization of Intangible Assets
Amortization expense decreased by $0.4 million and $1.9 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to
the prior year periods due to certain technology intangible assets becoming fully amortized.
Acquisition and Integration Costs

The Company did not have any acquisitions in 2020 and had one acquisition, SiriusDecisions, at the beginning of 2019. Acquisition and integration
costs consist of direct and incremental costs to acquire and integrate acquired companies and primarily consist of certain fair value adjustments, consulting,
severance, accounting and tax professional fees, and lease expense for unused facilities.

Acquisition and integration costs decreased by $1.9 million during the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period
primarily due to a decrease in professional service fees, partially offset by an increase related to the benefit of recording deferred commissions for
SiriusDecisions in the year of the acquisition.

Acquisition and integration costs decreased by $2.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period primarily
due to (1) a $4.1 million decrease in professional service fees and transaction costs, and (2) a $1.4 million decrease in severance. These decreases were
offset by (1) a $1.9 million ROU asset impairment recognized in the 2020 period, and (2) a $1.8 million increase related to the benefit of recording deferred
commissions for SiriusDecisions in the year of the acquisition.

We expect to incur integration costs in a range of $4.3 million to $4.7 million for the year ending December 31, 2020.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists of interest on our borrowings used to finance the previous acquisition of SiriusDecisions and realized gains (losses) on the
related interest rate swap. Interest expense decreased by $0.8 million and $1.6 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively,
compared to the prior year periods. These decreases were due to lower average outstanding borrowings and lower effective interest rates.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net primarily consists of gains (losses) on foreign currency, gains (losses) on foreign currency forward contracts, and
interest income. Other income (expense), net remained essentially consistent during the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year
period. The increase in other income (expense), net of $0.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period was
primarily due to a decrease in foreign currency losses.

Gain (Loss) on Investments, Net

Gain (loss) on investments, net primarily represents our share of equity method investment gains and losses from our technology-related investment
funds. Gain (loss) on investments, net increased by $2.4 million during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year
periods due to an increase in investment gains generated by the underlying funds.
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Income Tax Expense

Three Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Provision for income taxes (dollars in millions) $ 02 $ 09 $ (0.7) (78%)
Effective tax rate 2.0% 36.3% (34.3) (94%)
Six Months Ended Absolute Percentage
June 30, Increase Increase
2020 2019 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Provision for income taxes (dollars in millions) $ 03 $ 0.7 $ (0.4) (57%)
Effective tax rate 2.2% (6.0%) 8.2 137%

Income tax expense decreased by $0.4 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year period due to the release of a
U.S. valuation allowance on capital loss carryforwards. For the full year 2020, we anticipate that our effective tax rate will be approximately 1%.

Segment Results

As described in the Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2020, our Chief Product Officer resigned effective April 17, 2020. Subsequently, the Chief Product
Officer position was eliminated and we reorganized our operations to reflect three lines of business: Research, Consulting, and Events. As a result of these
changes, during the three months ended June 30, 2020, we realigned our internal reporting into Research, Consulting, and Events. The realignment
eliminated the Products segment as the product lines and organizations supporting the related revenues began operating under separate management
structures. The prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current presentation.

The Research segment includes the revenues of the Research, Connect and Analytics products and the cost of the organizations responsible for
developing and delivering our Research, Connect and Analytics products. In addition, this segment includes Consulting revenues from the delivery of
advisory services (such as workshops, speeches and advisory days) delivered by our research and analytics analysts. The costs of the product management
organization that is responsible for product pricing and packaging and the launch of new products is included in this segment.

The Consulting segment includes the revenues and the related costs of our project consulting organization. The project consulting organization
delivers a majority of our project consulting revenue and certain advisory services.

The Events segment includes the revenues and the costs of the organization responsible for developing and hosting in-person and virtual events.

We evaluate reportable segment performance and allocate resources based on segment revenues and expenses. Segment expenses include the direct
expenses of each segment organization and exclude selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, stock-based compensation
expense, depreciation expense, adjustments to incentive bonus compensation from target amounts, amortization of intangible assets, interest and other
expense, and gains (losses) on investments. The accounting policies used by the segments are the same as those used in the consolidated financial
statements.

Research Consulting Events Consolidated
(dollars in thousands)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020
Research revenues

Research $ 55,358 $ — % — $ 55,358

Connect 13,078 — — 13,078

Analytics 5,185 — — 5,185
Total research revenues 73,621 — — 73,621
Consulting 13,351 21,537 — 34,888
Events — — 5,032 5,032
Total segment revenues 86,972 21,537 5,032 113,541
Segment expenses (25,870) (10,099) (3,206) (39,175)
Year over year revenue change (5%) 13% (72%) (11%)
Year over year expense change (17%) 7% (70%) (24%)
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Research revenues
Research
Connect
Analytics
Total research revenues
Consulting
Events
Total segment revenues
Segment expenses

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
Research revenues

Research

Connect

Analytics
Total research revenues
Consulting
Events
Total segment revenues
Segment expenses
Year over year revenue change
Year over year expense change

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Research revenues
Research
Connect
Analytics
Total research revenues
Consulting
Events
Total segment revenues
Segment expenses

Research Consulting Events Consolidated
(dollars in thousands)
$ 56,305 $ — 3 — 3 56,305
14,067 — — 14,067
5,907 — — 5,907
76,279 _ — 76,279
15,024 18,993 — 34,017
— — 17,887 17,887
91,303 18,993 17,887 128,183
(31,209) (9,474) (10,693) (51,376)
Research Consulting Events Consolidated
(dollars in thousands)

108,964 $ — = 108,964
26,967 — — 26,967
10,486 — — 10,486

146,417 — — 146,417
27,377 40,970 — 68,347

— — 5,122 5,122
173,794 40,970 5,122 219,886
(53,334) (20,120) (3,883) (77,337)

— 13% (72%) (4%)

(13%) 6% (67%) (16%)
Research Consulting Events Consolidated
(dollars in thousands)
$ 106,085 $ — 3 — 3 106,085
27,638 — — 27,638
11,165 — — 11,165
144,888 — — 144,888
29,411 36,392 — 65,803
— — 18,141 18,141
174,299 36,392 18,141 228,832
(61,148) (18,908) (11,665) (91,721)
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Research segment revenues decreased 5% and remained essentially consistent during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively,
compared to the prior year periods, and decreased 7% and 4%, respectively, after adjusting for the fair value adjustment of pre-acquisition deferred revenue
that reduced revenues during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in segment revenues, after adjusting for the deferred revenue fair
value adjustment, was due to (1) a decrease in Research product line revenues due to a decrease in our subscription revenues that was partially offset by an
increase in reprint product revenues, (2) a decrease in Connect product revenues due primarily to a decrease in the leadership board product, (3) a decrease
in our Analytics products, and (4) a decrease in Consulting product revenues due to a decrease in advisory delivery during the period.

Research segment expenses decreased 17% and 13% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year
periods. The decrease in expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to a (1) a $3.0 million decrease in compensation and
benefit costs resulting principally from a decrease in incentive bonuses and other cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by an increase in headcount and merit increases, and (2) a $1.9 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses
due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The decrease in expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to (1)
a $5.9 million decrease in compensation and benefit costs resulting principally from a decrease in incentive bonuses and other related cost-reduction
measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by an increase in headcount and merit increases, and (2) a $1.8
million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Consulting segment revenues increased 13% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year periods
driven by strong consulting delivery.

Consulting segment expenses increased 7% and 6% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year
periods. The increase in expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to (1) a $0.8 million increase in professional services
primarily due to an increase in outsourced services related to revenue delivery and an increase in survey costs, (2) a $0.3 million increase in compensation
and benefit costs due to an increase in headcount and merit increases, partially offset by a decrease in incentive bonuses due to the cost-reduction measures
implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and (3) a $0.4 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced
travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The increase in expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to (1) a $1.5 million
increase in professional services primarily due to an increase in outsourced services related to revenue delivery and an increase in survey costs, (2) a $0.3
million increase in compensation and benefit costs due to an increase in headcount and merit increases, partially offset by a decrease in incentive bonuses
due to the cost-reduction measures implemented as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and (3) a $0.6 million decrease in travel and
entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Event segment revenues decreased 72% during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the prior year periods and decreased
85% for both periods after adjusting for the fair value adjustment of pre-acquisition deferred revenue that reduced revenues during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in Events revenues was due to lower sponsorship revenues in 2020 compared to the prior year due primarily to the
change to virtual events as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, to a lesser extent, having six fewer events during the 2020 period.

Event segment expenses decreased 70% and 67% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the prior year
periods. The decrease in expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to (1) a $7.3 million decrease in event expenses due
primarily to the change to virtual events as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, to a lesser extent, having six fewer events during the 2020 period, and
(2) a $0.2 million decrease in travel and entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The decrease in expenses
during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to (1) a $7.4 million decrease in event expenses due primarily to the change to virtual events
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, to a lesser extent, having six fewer events during the 2020 period, and (2) a $0.3 million decrease in travel and
entertainment expenses due to reduced travel as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operations primarily through funds generated from operations. Research revenues, which constituted
approximately 67% of our revenues during the six months ended June 30, 2020, are generally renewable annually and are typically payable in advance. We
generated cash from operating activities of $25.0 million and $33.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The
$8.5 million decrease in cash provided from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to an $18.2 million reduction in cash
generated from accounts receivable and deferred revenue due to a reduction in contract bookings for the period, partially offset by the combination of an
increase in net income for the period with an increases in cash used for working capital.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we used cash in investing activities of $5.1 million for purchases of property and equipment, primarily
consisting of software and leasehold improvements. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, we used cash in

31



investing activities of $243.6 million, consisting primarily of $238.9 million for the acquisition of SiriusDecisions, net of cash acquired, and $4.7 million in
purchases of property and equipment, consisting primarily of software and leasehold improvements.

We used $17.6 million of cash from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2020 primarily due to $18.7 million of repayments of
debt that consisted of $14.0 million of discretionary payments on our revolving credit facility and $4.7 million of required repayments of our term loan. We
generated $140.7 million of cash in financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2019 primarily due to $171.3 million of borrowings, which
reflects the face value of debt of $175.0 million less $3.7 million that was netted against the proceeds to pay debt issuance costs. This was partially offset
by $33.1 million of repayments of debt that consisted of $30.0 million of discretionary payments on our revolving credit facility and $3.1 million of
required repayments of our term loan. During the remainder of 2020, we anticipate paying approximately $3.6 million of deferred acquisition purchase
price (which consists of up to $2.6 million for a contingent consideration agreement (refer to Note 8 — Fair Value Measurements in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements) and $1.0 million of an indemnity holdback) for the FeedbackNow acquisition that occurred in 2018.

In connection with the acquisition of SiriusDecisions, we entered into a $200.0 million credit agreement on January 3, 2019 (the “Credit
Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides for: (1) senior secured term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million (the “Term Loans”) and
(2) a senior secured revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $75.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). We utilized the full $125.0
million of the Term Loans and $50.0 million of the Revolving Credit Facility to finance a portion of the acquisition of SiriusDecisions and to pay certain
fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility. Additional information is provided in Note 4 — Debt in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement can be repaid early, in part or in whole, at any time and from time to time, without premium or penalty,
other than customary breakage reimbursement requirements for the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) based loans. The Term Loans must be
prepaid with net cash proceeds of (i) certain debt incurred or issued by us and our restricted subsidiaries and (ii) certain asset sales and condemnation or
casualty events, subject to certain reinvestment rights.

Amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our option, at a rate per annum equal to either (i) LIBOR for the applicable interest
period plus a margin that is between 1.75% and 2.50% based on our consolidated total leverage ratio or (ii) the alternate base rate plus a margin that is
between 0.75% and 1.50% based on our consolidated total leverage ratio. In addition, we will pay a commitment fee that is between 0.25% and 0.35% per
annum, based on our consolidated total leverage ratio, on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility, payable quarterly, in arrears.
During 2019, we entered into an interest rate swap contract to effectively convert the floating base interest rate to a fixed rate on a majority of the
outstanding Term Loan principal balance. Additional information is provided in Note 7 — Derivatives and Hedging in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Credit Agreement contains certain customary restrictive loan covenants, including among others, financial covenants that apply a maximum
leverage ratio and minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. The negative covenants limit, subject to various exceptions, our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, create liens on assets, merge, consolidate, liquidate or dissolve any part of Forrester, sell assets, pay dividends or other payments in respect to
capital stock, change fiscal year, or enter into certain transactions with affiliates and subsidiaries. The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of
default, representations, and warranties.

As of June 30, 2020, we were in compliance with our financial covenants under the Credit Agreement. We currently forecast that we will be in
compliance with our financial covenants for at least one year from the issuance of these interim financial statements, after taking into consideration the cost
cutting measures implemented during the first half of the year. If the impact of COVID-19 is more severe than currently forecasted this may impact our
ability to comply with our financial covenants which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

As of June 30, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $68.4 million. This balance includes $52.4 million held outside of the U.S. If the cash
outside of the U.S. is needed for operations in the U.S., we would be required to accrue and pay U.S. state taxes and may be required to pay withholding
taxes to foreign jurisdictions to repatriate these funds. However, our intent is to permanently reinvest these funds outside of the U.S. and our current plans
do not demonstrate a need to repatriate these funds for our U.S. operations. We believe that our current cash balance and cash flows from operations will
satisfy working capital, financing activities, and capital expenditure requirements for the next twelve months.
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Contractual Obligations

Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 included a material change to the operating lease payments and purchase
commitment lines of the contractual obligations table as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. As of March
31, 2020, we had the following updated contractual obligations (in thousands):

Contractual Obligations Total 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter
Operating lease payments (1) $ 104,638 $ 7,872 $ 15,957 $ 15,988 $ 15485 $ 15,130 $ 34,206
Purchase commitments (2) 8,372 6,632 870 870

$ 113,010 $ 14504 $ 16,827 $ 16858 $ 15485 $ 15130 $ 34,206

(1) We primarily lease office space under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we entered into
several operating leases that commence later in 2020. These leases require us to make $17.2 million of lease payments over the terms of the leases,
which are up to ten years. This additional amount is reflected in the table above. Refer to Note 5 - Leases in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(2) Purchase commitments principally consist of contractual commitments for software, outsourced research services and Event venues. Due to the impact
of COVID-19, we moved our two flagship events during the second quarter, the SiriusDecisions Summit and CX North America, to a virtual format,
and we cancelled two smaller everts originally scheduled to take place during the same period. As a result of these changes, during the three months
ended March 31, 2020 we were able to cancel contracts for event venues, reducing our previously disclosed purchase commitments amounts by a total
of $2.1 million.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, there were no additional material changes to our contractual obligations.

Other than as noted above, the Contractual Obligations section in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 remains
current in all material respects.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 — Interim Consolidated Financial Statements in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a full description of recent
accounting pronouncements including the expected dates of adoption and effects on results of operations and financial condition.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes in our assessment of our sensitivity to market risk since our presentation set forth in Item 7A, “Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined under Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e), that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, our management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2020. Based upon their evaluation and subject to the
foregoing, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance as of that date.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except as noted below, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2020, which has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting. In response to COVID-19, we have undertaken measures to protect our employees, partners, and clients, including encouraging
employees to work remotely. These changes have compelled us to modify some of our control procedures. However these changes have so far not been
material.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and civil and regulatory claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business activities.
Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have a material adverse effect on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources,
and other factors.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A: Risk
Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or
future results. The risk factors described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K remain applicable to our business. In addition, we are updating the risk factor
included in both our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2020, titled “We Face Risks Related to Health Epidemics That Could Adversely Impact Our Business” as follows:

We Face Risks Related to Health Epidemics That Could Adversely Impact Our Business. Our business has been and could continue to be adversely
affected by the effects of a widespread outbreak of contagious disease, including the outbreak of respiratory illness caused by a novel coronavirus first
identified in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China, or COVID-19. Any outbreak of contagious diseases, and other adverse public health developments, could
have a material and adverse effect on our business operations. This could include disruptions or restrictions on the ability of our employees or our
customers to travel and a slowdown in the global economy, which could adversely affect our ability to sell or fulfill, and a reduction in demand for, our
products, services or events. Any disruption or delay of our customers or third-party service providers would likely impact our operating results. The
COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected our business beginning in March 2020 primarily through lower contract bookings and a reduction in
revenues from the conversion of our Events from in-person events to virtual events. We typically generate a significant portion of our Events revenues in
the second quarter of the year, including revenues from our two flagship events, the SiriusDecisions Summit and CX North America, both of which were
held as virtual events, resulting in significant reduction in revenues and profits from these two events. In addition, we cancelled two small events originally
scheduled for the second quarter of the year. We also plan to hold our Events in the second half of 2020 as virtual events. While the duration and severity of
this pandemic is uncertain, the Company currently expects a reduction in its subscription Research, Connect and Analytics revenues during the second half
of the 2020 due to reduced customer contract booking activity that began in March, and which is expected to continue through at least the third quarter of
2020. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic ultimately impacts our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and liquidity
may differ from our current estimates due to inherent uncertainties regarding the duration and further spread of the outbreak, its severity, actions taken to
contain the virus or treat its impact, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume.

We have implemented several cost-reduction measures that include reductions to travel, new hiring, and employee incentive compensation
programs. We will continue to proactively respond to the situation and may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be required by
governmental authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees and customers.

As of June 30, 2020, we were in compliance with our financial covenants under our Credit Agreement (see Note 4 — Debt in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). We currently forecast that we will be in compliance with our financial covenants for at least one year from the issuance
of these interim financial statements, after taking into consideration the measures noted above. If the impact of COVID-19 is more severe than currently
forecasted this may impact our ability to comply with our financial covenants which could have a material adverse effect on us.

The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2020, and the updated risks within this Form 10-Q are not the only risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Through June 30, 2020, our Board of Directors authorized an aggregate $535.0 million to purchase common stock under our stock repurchase
program. During the quarter ended June 30, 2020, we did not purchase any shares of our common stock under the stock repurchase program. As previously
disclosed, subsequent to our acquisition of SiriusDecisions we anticipate continuing to substantially reduce or eliminate repurchases of our common stock
during 2020.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

3.1

3.2

3.3
3.4
4.1

311
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Forrester Research, Inc. (see Exhibit 3.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1A filed on November 5,
1996)

Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of Forrester Research, Inc. (see Exhibit 3.1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1999),

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Forrester Research, Inc.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Forrester Research, Inc.

S-1A filed on November 5, 1996),

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer. (filed herewith)

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer. (filed herewith)
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (furnished herewith)

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (furnished herewith)

Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document. (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. (filed herewith)
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. (filed herewith)
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. (filed herewith)

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL Document). (filed herewith)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

FORRESTER RESEARCH, INC.

By:  /s/ Michael A. Doyle
Michael A. Doyle
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal financial officer)

Date: August 10, 2020
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, George F. Colony, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Forrester Research, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ GEORGE F. COLONY

George F. Colony

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal executive officer)

Date: August 10, 2020



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Michael A. Doyle, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Forrester Research, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/sf MICHAEL A. DOYLE
Michael A. Doyle

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal financial officer)

Date: August 10, 2020



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the
undersigned, as Chief Executive Officer of Forrester Research, Inc. (the “Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s knowledge:

1) the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “10-Q Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the 10-Q Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ George F. Colony
George F. Colony
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: August 10, 2020



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the
undersigned, as Chief Financial Officer of Forrester Research, Inc. (the “Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s knowledge:

1) the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “10-Q Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the 10-Q Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ MICHAEL A. DOYLE
Michael A. Doyle
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: August 10, 2020



